IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case Number: SC09-1675 and SC 09-1676

JONATHAN GREENFIELD, M.D., JONATHAN GREENFIELD, M.D., P.A. and TENET ST. MARY'S INC. d/b/a ST. MARY'S MEDICAL CENTER

Petitioners,

v.

DOROTHEA DANIELS, as Personal Representative of the Estate of SHEA DANIELS, deceased,

Respondent.

On Review from the Fourth District Court of Appeal

Case Number: 4D08-3612

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

TENET ST. MARY'S INC. d/b/a ST. MARY'S MEDICAL CENTER

> Norman M. Waas, Esquire Robert S. Covitz, Esquire FALK, WAAS, HERNANDEZ, CORTINA, SOLOMON & BONNER, P. A. Attorneys for Petitioner, Tenet St. Mary's Two Alhambra Plaza, Suite 750 Coral Gables, Florida 33134

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioners, JONATHAN GREENFIELD, M.D. and JONATHAN GREENFIELD, M.D., P.A., will be referred to as "GREENFIELD, M.D." and "GREENFIELD, M.D., P.A." respectively. Collectively, they will be referred to as "GREENFIELD". The Petitioner, TENET ST. MARY'S, INC. will be referred to as "ST. MARY'S".

The Personal Representative of the Estate of SHEA DANIELS will be referred to as either "DANIELS" or "Respondent".

SHEA DANIELS will be referred to as the "Decedent". The minor child, who is the subject matter of this litigation, will be referred to as "JAVON." The mother of the minor child, Rozine Cerine, shall be referred to as "MS. CERINE". Rozine Cerine's legal husband at the time of JAVON'S conception and birth will be referred to as "MR. WASHINGTON".

The symbol "OR." will designate the original record on appeal, followed by the volume and page number from the Record on Appeal. The symbol "HRT." will refer to the Hearing Transcript dated July 28, 2008, followed by the transcript page number, contained as part of the Record on Appeal. [OR. V.3, 532-553]. The symbol "A." will refer to the Appendix.

All emphasis is supplied by counsel, unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

These consolidated cases are before this Court following the Fourth District Court of Appeal's reversal of a Final Summary Judgment entered in favor of the Petitioners. This Court accepted jurisdiction on January 14, 2010.

The Decedent committed suicide on September 18, 2005. [OR. V.1, 2]. As a result, DANIELS filed a wrongful death/medical malpractice action against the Petitioners, GREENFIELD and ST. MARY'S. [OR. V.1, 1-5]. The Respondent alleged that the Decedent had been improperly discharged from the hospital on September 18, 2005, at a time when he was suffering from suicidal ideations, as well as mental instability. [OR. V.1, 1-5].

DANIELS asserted four causes of action against the Defendants: (1) Active Negligence of GREENFIELD, M.D. (Count I); (2) Vicarious Liability of GREENFIELD, M.D., P.A. (Count II); (3) Active Negligence of ST. MARY'S (Count III); and (4) Vicarious Liability of ST. MARY'S for the conduct of GREENFIELD, M.D. (Count IV). [OR. V.1, 1-5].

The Respondent brought this claim on behalf of the Estate, as well as on behalf of JAVON, who was alleged to be the surviving minor son of the Decedent. [OR. V.1, 1-5]. JAVON was born on September 19, 2001. At the time of his

¹ The Trial Court entered its Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment in favor of ST. MARY'S with respect to Count III of the Complaint on April 29, 2008. [OR. V.1, 153-54]. That Order was not challenged by the Respondent.

birth, JAVON's mother, MS. CERINE, was legally married to another man; MR WASHINGTON. [OR. V.1, 208-209]. MS. CERINE married MR. WASHINGTON in 1999 and was not divorced from him until November 8, 2004. [R. V.1, 208-209]. MS. CERINE was never married to the Decedent. [OR. V.1, 200; 202]. At the time of Decedent's death, JAVON was four (4) years old.

The parental rights of MR. WASHINGTON, the legal father of JAVON, were never and have never been impugned, divested or terminated pursuant to Florida law, nor was the issue of JAVON'S paternity ever properly and validly determined prior to the Decedent's death. MS. CERINE, through the Department of Revenue, filed a Petition for Support for JAVON against the Decedent on or about October 15, 2004 [Palm Beach County Case No.: 50 2004 DR 1367 FD]. [OR. V.1, 211]. This Petition was filed prior to the finalization of MS. CERINE's divorce from MR. WASHINGTON; JAVON'S "legal father". [OR. V.1, 208].

The Petition failed to disclose that, at the time of the minor's birth, MS. CERINE was married to MR. WASHINGTON. [OR. V.1, 211-213]. The Petition also did not name MR. WASHINGTON as an interested party. [OR. V.1, 211-213]. In the support action, Decedent challenged the issue of paternity, and in his response expressly stated that he was not sure who the father was and requested a DNA test. [OR. V.1, 215].

Pursuant to the law, if the court been advised that JAVON was conceived and born during the mother's marriage to MR. WASHINGTON, it would have required him to be made a party to the paternity action; a guardian ad litem would have been appointed prior to the ordering of any DNA test; and the court would have been required to make a determination as to whether the legal father's parental rights should be divested or impugned, prior to rendering any final decision in the case.

Without knowledge of MR. WASHINGTON's status as the "legal father", a DNA test was ordered by the court. The Decedent failed to appear for the test and, as a result, no DNA test was actually performed in the support action. [OR. V.1, 217]. Ultimately, the Decedent was defaulted as a result of his failure to attend the DNA test and he was ordered to pay child support. [OR. V.1, 217-219].

Under these circumstances, GREENFIELD served their "Motion for Partial Summary Judgment or Alternative Motion to Compel Paternity Testing" on February 6, 2008. [OR. V.1, 36-66]. ST. MARY'S joined in this Motion. [OR. V.1, 81-114]. Although this Motion was initially set for hearing, DANIELS filed her "Motion to Continue" same on March 7, 2008. [OR. V.1, 116-17]. In doing so, the Respondent asserted that she could conduct DNA testing with a blood specimen from the Decedent's autopsy, but would need thirty days in order to complete the testing. [OR. V.1, 116-17].

DANIELS never sought or obtained authorization from the trial court to conduct the DNA testing, which would necessarily require testing of the minor, JAVON, nor was a guardian ad litem appointed for him. [OR. V.1, 116-17]. Instead, the trial court merely granted DANIEL's "Motion to Continue" the hearing. [OR. V.I, 125]. The "Alternative Motion to Compel DNA Testing" was abandoned by Petitioners and was never heard or resolved by the trial court.

GREENFIELD then filed their "Amended Motion for Partial Summary Judgment" on May 1, 2008 [OR. V.1, 155-187] and "Second Amended Motion for Partial Summary Judgment" on May 12, 2008. [OR. V.1, 188-219]. The Second Amended Motion argued that because MR. WASHINGTON had not been joined in the paternity action, his status as JAVON'S legal father was never terminated, revoked or impugned. As a result, he was the "legal father" of JAVON. [OR. V.1, 190].

As a result, Petitioners argued that JAVON could not assert a claim under the Wrongful Death Act as a survivor of the Decedent and, therefore, were entitled to a Partial Summary Judgment with respect to JAVON'S "survivor claim". [OR. V.1, 191]. ST. MARY'S filed its "Notice of Joinder" in the Motions filed by GREENFIELD. [OR. V.2, 224-226].

² The Second Amended Motion corrected a scrivener's error in the Amended Motion.

DANIELS filed a "Notice of Filing DNA Test Results in Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment" on July 14, 2008. [OR. V.2, 237-38]. Notably, the DNA results were obtained as a result of unilateral actions undertaken by the Respondent and without any order or authorization from any court. [OR. V.3, 548; HRT., P. 17, L. 12-23]. DANIELS simultaneously filed her "Notice of Filing Depositions in Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment" on July 14, 2008. [OR. V.2, 239-400].

DANIELS then filed her "Response Opposing the Greenfield Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment" on July 18, 2008 [OR. V.3, 467-472] and her "Amended Response Opposing the Greenfield Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment" on July 22, 2008. [OR. V.3, 474-484].

In doing so, DANIELS acknowledged the existence of the strong legal presumption that the "husband" is considered the legal father of a child born during the course of a marriage, but argued that the presumption is rebuttable. She also argued that the presumption was rebutted in this case or at the very least that an issue of fact existed as to the issue [OR. V.3, 471-72; 479] based upon the unilaterally obtained DNA test results, as well as JAVON'S "birth certificate", which listed the Decedent as the father.³ [OR. V.3, 478]. GREENFIELD filed

³ It is submitted that reliance upon the "birth certificate" was improper because the legal husband of the mother was required to be listed as the father pursuant to §382.013(2)(a), Florida Statutes. As a result, the "birth certificate" was in

their Reply to Plaintiff's Response on July 22, 2008. [OR. V.3, 474-484].

The Petitioners' Motions were heard by the trial court on July 28, 2008. [OR. V.2, 235; V.3, 532-553; HRT., P. 17, L. 12-23]. At the time of the hearing, the trial court, who had experience as a judge in the Family Division, questioned DANIEL's counsel regarding the DNA test and the identity of the court that authorized the performance of the DNA test. [OR. V.3, 548; HRT., P. 17, L. 12-23]. DANIEL's counsel conceded that the mother authorized the DNA testing for the child and that no court made a finding that it was in the best interests of the child to undertake the testing. [OR. V.3, 548; HRT., P. 17, L. 12-23]. Specifically, the hearing transcript reflects as follows:

THE COURT: Who authorized the DNA testing of the child?

MS. LITTKY-RUBIN: That I believe the mother did.

THE COURT: And who made the finding – what court made the finding it was in the child's best interest to know the answer to that question?

MS. LITTKY-RUBIN: I don't believe it was any court finding on that. It was for purposes of this case.

[OR. V.3, 548; HRT., P. 17, L. 12-23].

The trial court then granted the Petitioners' Motions for Partial Summary Judgment. [OR. V.3, 499]. Subsequently, DANIELS served her "Motion Asking

contravention of Florida law.

Entered Against the Surviving Child and for Entry of a Stay to Allow Plaintiff a
Chance to Adjudicate Paternity in Proper Forum" on July 29, 2008. [OR. V.3, 495-97]. In accordance with her Motion, she did not "take issue . . .with the ruling . . . , but requested that the Trial Court vacate its ruling and stay the matter to allow her an opportunity to adjudicate paternity in family court." [OR. V.3, 495-97].

GREENFIELD filed their Opposition to this Motion on August 4, 2008. [OR. V.3, 500-505]. GREENFIELD argued that based on the relief requested, DANIELS had not filed a proper Motion for Rehearing and, as a result, her Motion should be denied. [OR. V.3, 500-505]. GREENFIELD likewise argued that the Motion was subject to being denied because, at the time of his death, the Decedent was not the legal father of the minor child, and no legal relationship existed between the child and the Decedent.

GREENFIELD also argued that DANIELS could not "cure' the lack of a legal relationship by attempting to "backdate paternity." [OR. V.3, 500-505]. Finally, GREENFIELD argued that the Respondent could not comply with the statutory scheme to establish paternity in Family Court. [OR. V.3, 500-505]. ST. MARY'S filed its "Notice of Joinder in GREENFIELD'S Opposition" on August 4, 2008. [OR. V.3, 506-511].

DANIELS then served her "Reply to GREENFIELD'S Opposition to the Plaintiff's Motion to Rehear" on August 4, 2008. [OR. V.3, 512-515]. The trial court entered its Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion to Rehear on August 5, 2008. [OR. V.3, 520-21]. The Trial Court entered a Final Judgment in favor of GREENFIELD and ST. MARY'S as to all of JAVON's claims on August 13, 2008. [OR. V.3, 525]. DANIELS then filed her Notice of Appeal. [OR. V.III, 526-528].

On August 5, 2009, the Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court with instructions to resolve the issue of survivorship before trial or before the jury pursuant to the Third District decision in *Coral Gables Hospital, Inc. v. Veliz*, 847 So. 2d 1027 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003). [A. 1-8]. Its Mandate then issued on August 21, 2009. [A. 9].

Thereafter, a Notice of Invoking Discretionary Jurisdiction was filed by GREENFIELD and by ST. MARY'S. A Jurisdictional Brief was filed by GREENFIELD (Case Number SC09-1675) and ST. MARY'S filed a "Notice of Joinder in Jurisdictional Brief" (Case Number SC09-1676). Respondent then filed identical Briefs in Opposition in both cases. On January 14, 2010, this Court accepted jurisdiction and consolidated both cases.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In order to recover damages against the Petitioners, DANIELS must prove that JAVON was a survivor as that term is defined by §768.18(1), Fla. Stat. (2009). A "survivor" is defined as:

the decedent's...children...and...[i]t includes the child born out of wedlock of a mother, but not the child born out of wedlock of the father unless the father has recognized a responsibility for the child's support.

Because MR. WASHINGTON was married to MS. CERINE at the time of JAVON's birth, the law is clear that JAVON was not the Decedent's son. Rather, JAVON's father was MR. WASHINGTON. §382.013(2)(a), Fla. Stat. (2009) provides that:

if the mother is married at the time of the birth, the name of the husband shall be entered on the birth certificate as the father of the child, unless paternity has been determined otherwise by a court of competent jurisdiction.

In relying upon the birth certificate as evidence that JAVON was the Decedent's son, the District Court not only ignored §382.013(2)(a), Fla. Stat. (2009) it also ignored this Court's decision in *Florida Department of Revenue v*. *Cummings*, 930 So. 2d 604 (Fla. 2006) and its own decision in *Johnson v. Ruby*, 771 So.2d 1275 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000).

Further, JAVON was not born out of wedlock; he was born during the marriage of MS. CERINE and MR. WASHINGTON. As such, he is not the

Decedent's statutory survivor. *Achumba v. Neustein*, 793 So. 2d 1013 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001). *See also, Glover v. Miller*, 947 So. 2d 1254 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007); and *Tijerino v. Estrella*, 843 So.2d 984 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003).

Additionally, because MR. WASHINGTON was never joined in the paternity action brought by MS. CERINE and was never given the opportunity to be heard by the Family Court, MR. WASHINGTON's status as the legal father remains intact.

As such, the District Court's decision ignores the long-established rule that where a child is born during an existing marriage, the husband is considered the legal father of the child, until such time as his parental rights have been terminated, revoked or otherwise impugned, after notice and an opportunity to be heard. *Florida Department of Revenue v. Cummings*, 930 20.2d 604 (Fla. 2006).

While the District Court is correct that the status of legitimacy is a rebuttable presumption, the presumption cannot be rebutted until the mother's husband is made a party to the paternity action and given a chance to be heard. The legitimacy certainly cannot be overcome by a District Court merely stating, without citation to evidence, that "the husband does not object" to the termination of his parental rights. *Daniels v. Greenfield*, 15 So. 3d 908, 913 (Fla. 4th DCA 2009).

Further, if this Court finds that the issue of paternity is still to be determined,

then such a determination must be made pursuant to §742.01-742.18, Fla. Stat. and not by a jury hearing evidence of liability and damages in a wrongful death trial. *Achumba v. Neustein*, 793 So. 2d 1013 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001). *But see, Coral Gables Hospital v. Veliz*, 847 So. 2d 1027 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003); and *Daniels v. Greenfield*, 15 So. 3d 908, 914 (Fla. 4th DCA 2009).

Lastly, even assuming that MR. WASHINGTON's status as JAVON's legal father can now be impugned, such a change comes too late for JAVON to maintain his claim. At the time of the Decedent's suicide, there was no valid determination of paternity nor was there any legal relationship between the Decedent and JAVON which would sustain a claim brought under §768.21, Fla. Stat. The law is clear that a claim for damages cannot be brought where the legal relationship which forms the basis for the claim did not exist until after the cause of action accrued. *Fullerton v. Hospital Corp. of* America, 660 So. 2d 389 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995); and *Tremblay v.* Carter, 390 So. 2d 816 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980).

Accordingly, the decision of the District Court should be reversed with instructions to reinstate the lower court's rulings.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review with respect to a trial court's ruling on a motion for summary judgment is *de novo*. *Clay Elec. Co-Op., Inc. v. Johnson*, 873 So. 2d 1182, 1185 (Fla. 2003). The standard of review for pure questions of law is also *de novo*. *Southern Baptist Hospital of Florida, Inc. v. Welker*, 908 So.2d 317, 319 (Fla. 2005).

ARGUMENT

I. SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS PROPERLY ENTERED ON THE MINOR'S "SURVIVOR" CLAIM BECAUSE THE MINOR WAS BORN DURING HIS MOTHER'S MARRIAGE TO ANOTHER MAN WHOSE PARENTAL RIGHTS HAD NOT BEEN LEGALLY DIVESTED.

The Trial Court properly granted Petitioners' Motions for Summary Judgment because, at the time of his death, the Decedent was not JAVON's legal father. Accordingly, the decision of the District Court should be reversed with instructions to reinstate the lower court's rulings.

In order to recover damages against the Petitioners, DANIELS must prove that JAVON was a survivor as that term is defined by §768.18(1), Fla. Stat. (2009) A "survivor" is defined as:

the decedent's...children...and...[i]t includes the child born out of wedlock of a mother, but not the child born out of wedlock of the father unless the father has recognized a responsibility for the child's support.

The law is clear that JAVON was not the Decedent's son. Rather, Javon's father was MR. WASHINGTON. §382.013(2)(a), Fla. Stat. (2009) provides that:

if the mother is married at the time of the birth, the name of the husband shall be entered on the birth certificate as the father of the child, unless paternity has been determined otherwise by a court of competent jurisdiction.

The language of this statute is clear and unambiguous. As such, it should be afforded its plain meaning. See Saleeby v. Rocky Elson Const. Inc., 3 So. 3d 1078, 1082 (Fla. 2009)("When the statute is clear and unambiguous, 'there is no occasion for resorting to the rules of statutory interpretation and construction; the statute must be given its plain and obvious meaning."") (quoting Holly v. Auld, 450 So. 2d 217, 219 (Fla. 1984)); *see also* State v. Lacayo, 8 So. 3d 385, 387 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009)("If a statute is clear and unambiguous, we will not expand our analysis and look beyond the statute's plain language or resort to rules of statutory construction.").

Based upon the clear language of the statute, there can be but one conclusion: MR. WASHINGTON is the "legal father" and his name should have been listed as the father on JAVON's birth certificate. Despite this unambiguous language, the District Court repeatedly referred to the Decedent as "the legal father". *Daniels v. Greenfield*, 15 So. 3d 908, 912 (Fla. 4th DCA 2009).

In doing so, it not only ignored §382.013(2)(a), Fla. Stat., but it also ignored this Court's decision in *Florida Department of Revenue v. Cummings*, 930 So. 2d

604, 605 (Fla. 2006)("The issue before us is whether a legal father (i.e., a man married to the child's mother at the time of birth) is an indispensable party in a paternity action"); and its own decision in *Johnson v. Ruby*, 771 So. 2d 1275, 1276 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000)(" the husband of the mother is presumed to be the child's biological father; at a minimum, he is the child's legal father.")

Further, JAVON was not born out of wedlock as suggested by the District Court. *Daniels v. Greenfield*, 15 So. 3d 908, 912 (Fla. 4th DCA 2009) ("Out of wedlock" means that the father and mother of the child were not married.") Rather, JAVON was born during the marriage of MS. CERINE and MR. WASHINGTON. *Tijerino v. Estrella*, 843 So. 2d 984 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003) (a child born into an intact marriage is not born out of wedlock).

As such, because MR. WASHINGTON's status as JAVON's legal father had not been properly divested or terminated, JAVON was not the Decedent's statutory survivor. *Achumba v. Neustein*, 793 So. 2d 1013 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001).

In *Achumba*, the Fifth District held that a child born to a mother legally married to another man could not be considered a "survivor" of a subsequently deceased third party who was alleged to be the biological father and who had recognized responsibility for the child's support. The court acknowledged that Florida does not recognize the existence of "dual fathership" and until the husband's status as the child's legal father was changed, recognition of the third

party as the child's father would be precluded, regardless of what his biological relationship to the child might be. *Id.* at 1014-15.

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