IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JONATHAN GREENFIELD, M.D.;

JONATHAN GREENFIELD, M.D., P.A.; and TENET ST. MARY'S, INC.

Petitioners/Defendants,

v.

DOROTHEA DANIELS, as Personal Representative of the Estate of SHEA DANIELS, deceased,

Respondent/Plaintiff.

/

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF (AS TO ALL PETITIONERS)

JULIE H. LITTKY-RUBIN, ESQ.

Florida Bar No. 983306 Lytal, Reiter, Clark, Fountain & Williams,

515 N. Flagler Dr., Suite 1000 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone: (561) 655-1990 Facsimile: (561) 832-2932 Attorneys for Respondent/Plaintiff

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

7

The Fourth District properly ruled that Javon Daniels, who is now seven, could indeed pursue a wrongful death case on behalf of his deceased father, Shea Daniels. Not only did the court find Javon was a survivor of Shea Daniels under the plain language of §768.18(1), it further found that Mr. Daniels was also Javon's "legal father" pursuant to §382.013(2)(a), because it was Shea who was listed as the "father" on Javon's birth certificate.

The Fourth District refused to allow the rebuttable presumption of paternity to slam the courthouse doors in the face of young Javon, simply because his mother was still married to a man she had not formally divorced, or even seen for over a year at the time of his birth. In light of the birth certificate, the conclusive DNA test results, the unrebutted evidence that Mr. Daniels provided support to young Javon, and the evidence that Javon's mother had not been intimate with anyone else but Shea at the time of the child's conception, the Fourth District correctly ruled that Javon could pursue a claim for his father's wrongful death. This Honorable Court should not strip this child of his rightful and legitimate claim, and should respectfully affirm the Fourth District's ruling in its entirety.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Mrs. Daniels agrees with petitioners that these are issues of law reviewed by this Court, *de novo*.

8

ARGUMENT

- I. THE FOURTH DISTRICT CORRECTLY REVERSED THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION TO PERMANENTLY DEPRIVE THE CHILD SURVIVOR UNDER §768.18(1), FROM BRINGING A CLAIM FOR THE WRONGFUL DEATH OF THE MAN SHOWN TO BE BOTH HIS "BIOLOGICAL" AS WELL AS HIS "LEGAL" FATHER.
- A. <u>Relying on the plain language of the wrongful death statute, the</u> <u>Fourth District properly found that young Javon was a survivor</u> <u>of Shea Daniels.</u>

According to the defendants, Javon was not born out of "wedlock," because

his mother was "married" at the time of his birth, to a man she had not seen for at

least a year before he was born. As such, they assert, Javon had no claim under

§768.18(1), Fla. Stat.

The Fourth District staunchly disagreed with this pronouncement.

Dismantling defendants' argument with a careful analysis of the statutory text of

§768.18(1), Judge Warner explained for the majority:

A survivor 'includes the child born out of wedlock of a mother, **but not the child born <u>out of wedlock of the</u> <u>father unless the father has recognized a</u> <u>responsibility for the child's support</u>.' §768.18(1), Fla. Stat. The 'child born' can refer only to a biological** child. 'Out of wedlock' means that the **father** and mother of the child were not married. **Thus, the clear meaning of the phrase is that a biological child born to a father not married to the child's mother may be a**

'survivor' under the wrongful death act if the biological father recognized a responsibility of the child's support. The statute does not require a legal determination of paternity. It merely requires recognition by the biological father of a responsibility of support. There is no presumption of legitimacy within the statute which would preclude Javon from his ability to claim loss based upon his survivorship status. Thus, the statute appears to benefit the child by permitting recovery from the biological father without undermining the relationship that the child might have with a 'legal father.' Under the clear language of the statute, the motion for summary judgment should not have been granted, because Javon is a 'survivor' of Shea based upon the evidence of Shea's support of Javon and the DNA tests, as well as the birth certificate listing Shea as the father. Daniels v. Greenfield, 15 So. 3d 908, 912 (Fla. 4th DCA 2009)(Emphasis added).

The defendants insist that Javon was **not** born out of wedlock, because his mother was "married" at the time of his birth. The Fourth District's detailed analysis shows the fallacy of that assertion. Because Javon was born "out of wedlock" of his biological father--the person for whose death he made his claim--the personal representative only had to show that the father recognized a responsibility for the child's support for the boy to be a "statutory survivor." The evidence of Shea's \$50 - \$75 per week child support contribution, and occasional clothing purchases demonstrate that Javon is indeed a "survivor" of his father under \$768.18(1) as the Fourth District found.

Had Javon's claim been for the death of his **mother**, there would be no "wedlock" issue, because his mother was indeed "married" when she conceived Javon. However, little Javon was clearly born out of the "wedlock" of his father, who was not married to his mother at the time of his conception.

The defendants rely on *Tijerino v. Estrella*, 843 So. 2d 984 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2003), to support their argument that Javon was **not** born out of wedlock. However, *Tijerino* is completely distinguishable.

In *Tijerino*, the alleged biological father sued to establish the paternity of a child he alleged was his biologically. The Third District found that he had no standing to establish the paternity, because the child was born into an intact marriage, and both the married woman and her husband **objected** to his action. *Id.* at 985.

Here, Javon's mother testified that Shea Daniels was his father, and there is no evidence at all to suggest that Willie Washington had any objection to that. The Fourth District also specifically used the plain language of the wrongful death statute, to rule that a biological child born to a father not married to the child's mother at the time of birth, may still be a "survivor" under the wrongful death act, if the biological father recognized a responsibility for the child's support. *Daniels, supra.*, at 912. The Fourth District observed that the wrongful death statute benefits a child by permitting him to recover as a survivor of the biological father, without undermining the relationship that the child might have with a "legal father." *Id.* Nothing in *Tijerino* had anything to do with wrongful death. The defendants have not only shown no legal error in the Fourth District's interpretation of the statute, but they have further failed to show that our facts do not comport with the Fourth's interpretation.

B. <u>The Fourth District correctly ruled that Shea Daniels was</u> Javon's "legal father" under precedent established by this <u>Court.</u>

The Fourth District went on to reconcile this Court's decision in *Florida Dept. of Revenue v. Cummings*, 930 So. 2d 604 (Fla. 2006), with the mandates of §382.013(2)(a), Florida Statutes (2000), which require the name of the husband to be on the birth certificate as father, unless paternity is determined otherwise. Abiding by this Court's *Cummings* analysis, the Fourth ruled Shea was actually also Javon's "**legal father**," because under *Cummings*, the legal father--the one who becomes indispensable to the paternity proceedings--is the **man listed as**

"father" on the birth certificate.

Defendants vociferously reject that Shea Daniels was Javon's "legal father," because they argue he was erroneously listed as Javon's father on the birth certificate in contravention of §382.013(2)(a). They argue that this alleged "error," where the **actual** father was listed on the child's birth certificate (instead of the man who had been married to the mother in name alone, but had been away in the military at the time of his conception, and had not had intimate relations with the mother for over a year before the child was born), prevents Javon from claiming that Shea Daniels is his legal father. Based on this argument, the defendants urge this Court to reverse the Fourth District's ruling, and to hold that Javon has **no claim** for the death of the man who was both his "biological" **and** "legal" father.

In dismissing defendants' argument, the Fourth District drew a very important distinction between our case, and the Second District's decision in *S.B. v. D.H.*, 736 So. 2d 766 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1999). There, as the court explained, the biological father was listed on the birth certificate, instead of the document listing the husband of the mother. However, in *S.B.*, the Second District found that the listing was done in error, **because the husband objected to it**. *Daniels, supra.*, at 913. The court advised that under those circumstances, a putative biological father could not maintain a paternity action concerning a child conceived by a married woman, because **both** the **married woman** <u>and</u> her husband objected to the challenge. *Id*. Here, though, as the Fourth District observed, there is no record evidence that the "husband," Mr. Washington, objected. Further, he and the mother have been divorced since 2004, making our circumstances far different. *Id*.

The hospital takes great issue with what it characterizes as some type of quantum "leap" made by the Fourth District with respect to the husband's objection (Hospital's Initial Brief to the Supreme Court, p. 22). However, there is not a shred of evidence in the record that Mr. Washington had any objection to his former wife listing the baby's actual father (Shea Daniels) on his birth certificate, especially since Mr. Washington and Javon's mother had been physically and geographically separated for at least a year before Javon's birth. Nor is there any remote suggestion that Willie Washington would want to assume responsibility for eighteen years worth of support of young Javon, a child who was not his as attested to by his ex-wife Rosine, and fully buttressed by conclusive DNA test results.

The Fourth District was unpersuaded by defendants' assertion that the alleged "unilateral" DNA testing done on Javon was in any way faulty, compromised or invalid. Whether or not the defendants ultimately abandoned their request for DNA testing, they certainly cannot hide from the fact that **it was they who initially initiated such testing**. Based on this record and the language of §768.18(1), the Fourth District simply refused to allow a **rebuttable presumption**

to defeat a clearly legitimate claim of a young boy for the wrongful death of his biological and legal father.

II. THE FOURTH DISTRICT PROPERLY FOLLOWED THE THIRD DISTRICT'S ANALOGOUS VELIZ CASE, IN HOLDING THAT JAVON'S PATERNITY COULD BE DETERMINED IN THE CONTEXT OF THIS WRONGFUL DEATH CASE.

Notwithstanding that *Achumba v. Neustein*, 793 So. 2d 1013 (Fla. 5th DCA), *cause dismissed*, 805 So. 2d 804 (Fla. 2001), is factually distinguishable from our case, the defendants still argue that the Fourth District erred in following Judge Griffin's well reasoned dissent in *Achumba*, as well as the Third District's decision in *Coral Gables Hosp., Inc. v. Veliz*, 847 So. 2d 1027 (Fla. 3rd DCA), *rev. dismissed*, 857 So. 2d 195 (Fla. 2003), which relied on that dissent. The Fourth District was certainly well aware of the potential conflict between *Achumba* and *Veliz*. However, it explicitly noted that the major difference between *Achumba* and our case was the birth certificate. *Id* at 912.

In *Achumba*, unlike here where the biological father was listed on the birth certificate, the "birth certificate listed the **husband of the mother** as the child's father." *Id*. The court went on to explain that it is the listing of the father on the

birth certificate which provides the presumption of legitimacy. *Daniels, supra.*, at 912.

In *Achumba*, the personal representative brought a wrongful death claim for the death of the decedent whom she alleged was the child's biological father. *Daniels*, 15 So. 3d at 911. The defendant in *Achumba* moved for summary judgment, because at the time of the child's birth, the mother was married to another man **and** that man's name was on the child's birth certificate. *Id*.

Because the mother's husband was listed on the birth certificate, the *Achumba* court explained that the child was not "born out of wedlock of the father." *Id.* To recognize the decedent as the child's father in that case would have necessarily impugned the husband's parental rights, the court admonished. *Id. Achumba* went on to conclude that Florida does not recognize "dual fathership," and that the child's paternity could not be resolved in the context of a wrongful death case, because the husband's due process rights as the child's "legal father" (because the husband was on the birth certificate) could not be considered in the pending wrongful death action. *Id.*

Judge Warner cited to Judge Griffin's "cogent dissent" in *Achumba*, which doubted both "the accuracy and the wisdom of the premise on which the majority opinion [was] based." *Daniels*, at 911. Judge Griffin had sought guidance from the Fourth District's decision in *In Re Estate of Robertson*, 520 So. 2d 99 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), where the Fourth had held that the **illegitimate daughter** of the decedent **could inherit** from his estate, **even though her mother was married to another man at the time of her birth**. *Id*. at 911-12. Quoting to Judge Griffin's

dissent in Achumba, the Fourth District below stated:

If *Robertson* is correct that the existence of a legal father does not prevent a natural child from inheriting by intestate succession, the wrongful death act should likewise be interpreted to allow the natural child to be a wrongful death claimant. **Contrary to the view of the majority, allowing a child to share in the estate of the natural father through intestate succession or through a wrongful death proceeding in no way impugns or alters the legal father's relationship with the child.** (*Daniels*, 15 So. 3d at 912)(*citing, Achumba*, 793 So. 2d at 1017)(Griffin, J., dissenting).

Finding Achumba to be distinguishable from these facts, where the decedent

himself was in fact listed as the father on the birth certificate, the Fourth

District ultimately held that the ample evidence in this case, which included the

DNA results, Shea's name listed on Javon's birth certificate, the mother's

attestation of Shea's fatherhood and Shea's support of the child, made it clear not

only that Javon was a statutory "survivor" of Shea Daniels, but also that it was far

from the child's best interests to blindly apply a presumption. *Id.* at 914.

Focusing on the best interests of the child, the Fourth found **no legal or** equitable merit in preventing the personal representative from asserting Javon's claim for "the loss of his father, the only father he has ever known." *Daniels*, at 914. The Fourth District then remanded for further proceedings to resolve the issue either pretrial, or before the jury, as the court had done in *Veliz*.

The sharp tone of the Fourth District's opinion exposes its disdain for the incongruity of defendants' position. The Fourth refused to see how the "birth certificate statute" could somehow steal this child's claim from him, when Shea Daniels was actually also the "**legal father**." The court also found Javon to fall squarely within the definition of a "survivor" as set forth in §768.18(1).

There was no doubt in the Fourth District's mind that Shea Daniels was indeed Javon's father; the only father he ever knew. There was not a scintilla of evidence that the mother's former husband could have cared less about that fact, or that he laid any claim as father of the child. As a result, the Fourth District could not legally, or in good conscience, allow the application of a rebuttable presumption to slam the doors of the courthouse in the face of this little boy. This Court should affirm that ruling.

III. THE DEFENDANTS' ATTEMPTS TO ANALOGIZE A CHILD'S PARENTAGE TO SPOUSES WHO CANNOT MARRY INTO

CONSORTIUM CLAIMS IS UNTENABLE AT BEST, AND DISINGENUOUS AT WORST.

Both defendants argue that this Court should reverse the Fourth District, because Mrs. Daniels is bringing a claim for her grandson's damages under facts where the legal relationship forming the basis for the claim, did not exist until after the cause of action accrued. The defendants rely on *Fullerton v. Hospital Corp. of America*, 660 So. 2d 389 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995), and *Tremblay v. Carter*, 390 So. 2d 816 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1980). Both of those cases essentially hold that persons who marry injured victims after they have been injured, may not bring consortium claims, because those claims are reserved for those who were married **before** the cause of action accrued.

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